IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

No. S259364

FILED WITH PERMISSION

SUNDAR NATARAJAN, M.D.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

DIGNITY HEALTH,

Respondent.

Court of Appeal Case No. C085906

County of San Joaquin Superior Court No. STK-CV-UWM-20164821

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

AFTER THE PUBLISHED DECISION BY THE COURT OF APPEAL THIRD APPELLATE DISTRICT OF NOVEMBER 20, 2019

INTRODUCTION AND SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This case presents the question whether physicians at private hospitals have the same right to a quasi-judicial hearing officer without an appearance of bias as individuals who are parties in other quasi-judicial administrative hearings, arbitrations, civil litigation or criminal prosecutions.

The foundation of physicians' right to fair hospital hearings is their right to maintain their hospital privileges absent good cause to terminate those privileges. Since 1959, California courts have recognized that doctors depend on hospital privileges to pursue their careers. (*Wyatt v. Tahoe Forest Hospital* (1959) 174 Cal.App.2d 709, 715-716.)

In 1977, this Court recognized the importance of hospital privileges to physicians when it held that they have a fundamental vested property interest in those privileges. (*Anton v. San Antonio Community Hospital* (1977) 19 Cal.3d 802, 823-825.) It held that all California hospitals must give physicians a fair hearing before terminating their hospital privileges. (*Ibid.*) In *Kibler v. Northern Inyo County Local Hospital Dist.* (2006) 39 Cal.4th 192, 199-200, this Court recognized the importance of hospital hearings to both the public and physicians, and held that they are official proceedings authorized by law comparable to quasijudicial public agencies. In *Mileikowsky v. West Hills Hospital & Medical Center* (2009) 45 Cal.4th 1259, 1267-68, this Court described how adverse results of hospital hearings can destroy a physician's career, and reaffirmed physicians'

-12-

fundamental vested property interest in hospital privileges and their right to fair peer review.

This Court has also repeatedly held that physicians working in public and private hospitals have the same due process protections. In *El-Attar v. Hollywood Presbyterian Med. Center* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 976, 987, this Court quoted with approval *Anton*: "[A] physician may neither be refused admission to, nor expelled from, the staff of a hospital, *whether public or private,* in the absence of a procedure comporting with the minimum common law requirements of procedural due process." (Emphasis by Court in *Anton*.)

An unbroken line of U.S. Supreme Court and California precedent has emphasized that unbiased adjudicators are fundamental to due process, as this Court described in *Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017, 1025-1032. When the Legislature codified physicians' common law right to a fair hearing, it enacted Business and Professions Code § 809.2¹ to protect physicians' right to an impartial hearing officer.

The appearance of bias is the standard applicable to adjudicators in all judicial and quasi-judicial proceedings in California, whether public or private, as will be shown below. When, as here, there is evidence that an adjudicator is subject to influence by personal financial interests, disqualification is subject to "the least forgiving scrutiny." (*Haas,* 27 Cal.4th at 1025.) In such cases, proof of

¹ All statutory references are to the Business and Professions Code unless otherwise indicated.

actual bias is not required; the question is rather whether there was a possible temptation to the average judge not to be entirely fair. (*Ibid.*)

In this case, Respondent Dignity Health ("Dignity") was an economic competitor to Dr. Natarajan, with a substantial financial motive to eliminate his thriving hospitalist practice. (17 PAR 4170-4174; 19 PAR 4624.)² After initiating charges against Dr. Natarajan, Dignity appointed A. Robert Singer as the hearing officer. At that time, Singer had previously been chosen as the hearing officer for nine other Dignity hearings, and Dignity had paid him over \$210,000 for his services. (AAR 318.) At the time of his appointment in Dr. Natarajan's case, nothing prevented Singer from serving again as hearing officer in any of Dignity's 34 hospitals. (1 PAR 251-252; 20 PAR 4846-4847; AAR 52-59.) Under *Haas*, Singer therefore had an appearance of bias, because he had a financial incentive to favor Dignity, in order to increase the likelihood of future remunerative appointments. (*Id.*, 27 Cal.4th at 1031.)

In the Court of Appeal, Dignity did not dispute that the hearing officer had an appearance of bias, but argued that the applicable standard was actual bias. (Dignity Brief ("DB", pp. 27-28.) The Court of Appeal adopted that argument. (*Natarajan v. Dignity Health* (2019) 42 Cal.App.5th 383, 390-391, "*Natarajan*".) It refused to apply the common law governing the selection of quasi-judicial

² "PAR" is the Petitioner's Administrative Record prepared after the conclusion of the hearing and the internal hospital appeal. "AAR" is the Augmented Administrative Record filed after the trial court granted motions to augment.

hearing officers as set forth in *Haas* and *Yaqub v. Salinas Valley Memorial Healthcare System* (2004) 122 Cal.App.4th 474. (*Natarajan,* at 389.) It asserted that the common law did not apply to hospital fair hearings, despite its recognition that this Court "seemed" to apply common law principles to those hearings in *El-Attar.* (*Ibid.*)

Natarajan instead relied on a single isolated phrase from Section 809.2, subd. (b). It ignored both the purpose of Section 809.2 and the part of the statute that demonstrates that the Legislature intended for hospital hearing officers to be impartial, failing to follow fundamental rules of statutory construction. It also held for the first time in any California case that the "fair procedure" applicable to private hospital hearings does not provide the same protections as the constitutional due process required for public agency hearings affecting individual rights, contrary to *Applebaum v. Board of Directors* (1980) 104 Cal.App.3d 648, 657, and multiple other cases.

The appearance of bias standard not only *is* the law governing hospital hearings, it *should* be the law, because of California's strong public policies favoring fair peer review, public health and safety, and the integrity of our legal system. There is no rational basis for providing physicians who work at private hospitals less protection from biased hearing officers than physicians at public hospitals, or for believing that private hospital corporations are less likely to try to bend a quasi-judicial hearing in their favor than public agencies. To the contrary,

-15-

as this case demonstrates, private hospital corporations have incentives to unfairly tilt hearing procedures in their favor that do not exist in the public sector.

In addition, a holding in this case affirming that "fair procedure" provides the same basic protections as constitutional due process will avoid a challenge to California law as violating federal due process, because it will make clear that a physician's fundamental vested property interest in hospital privileges cannot be taken without due process.

ISSUE PRESENTED

This Court granted review of the following issue: "Does a physician with privileges at a private hospital have the right to disqualify a hearing officer in a proceedings for revocation of those privileges based on an appearance of bias (see *Haas v. County of San Bernardino* (2002) 27 Cal.4th 1017) or must the physician show actual bias?"

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Dr. Natarajan Was a Leading Hospitalist in Northern California.

After completing a dual residency program in internal medicine and pediatrics in Ohio in 2002, Dr. Natarajan began working as a hospitalist, then a new field of medicine. (16 PAR 3739-3740, 3749-3750.) In 2004, he started practicing in Modesto for the Gould Medical Group. (16 PAR 3742.) Based on his success with Gould, Stockton's Dameron Hospital hired him as the Hospitalist Director for its new hospitalist program. (16 PAR 3743-3745.) While at

-16-

Dameron, Dr. Natarajan was elected President of the Society of Hospitalist Medicine – Northern California Chapter and helped develop some of the first standards and guidelines for hospitalists. (16 PAR 3749-3750.) In 2007, Dignity (then "Catholic Healthcare West") hired Dr. Natarajan to be Director of its hospitalist group at St. Joseph's Medical Center in Stockton. (16 PAR 3750.)

Dr. Natarajan is a highly competent physician. At the time of his hearing, he had treated approximately 10,000 different hospitalized patients. (16 PAR 3756.) He has never been sued for malpractice. (*Ibid.*) Before St. Joseph's 2013 charges, no one had raised any issues about Dr. Natarajan's competence. (16 PAR 3742-3752.) While Director of Dignity's hospitalist group at St. Joseph's, there were no criticisms of the quality of his medical documentation or his medical care. In fact, he was praised for his excellent medical record-keeping practices. (16 PAR 3751-3752.) He scored extremely high on St. Joseph's objective measures of clinical competence. (8 PAR 1786-1825.) Peer evaluations of his competence were also consistently excellent. (*Ibid.*) Dr. Natarajan received several awards for providing compassionate care. (19 PAR 4648-4652.)

B. Dignity Was an Economic Competitor of Dr. Natarajan and Initiated the Termination of His Privileges.

In 2013, when Dignity initiated an investigation of Dr. Natarajan, it had a financial incentive to terminate his hospital privileges at St. Joseph's. In 2008, Dignity did not renew his contract as Director of its hospitalist group, after he

-17-

complained about inappropriate hospital practices. (16 PAR 3752-3754.) Dr. Natarajan then started his own group, Central Valley Hospitalists (CVH). (*Ibid.*) CVH thrived, because many of Stockton's primary care physicians decided to use it for hospitalist services. (6 PAR 1219; 17 PAR 4278-4282.) Dignity tried to buy out Dr. Natarajan's group but he refused. (6 PAR 1376.) By 2013, St. Joseph's own hospitalist group had lost approximately \$600,000 each year in the five years after Dr. Natarajan's departure, because of its low patient census. (17 PAR 4170-4174; 19 PAR 4624.)

Dignity then acted to eliminate its competitor. In 2013, a St. Joseph's vicepresident, Dr. Susan McDonald, initiated an investigation of Dr. Natarajan. (6 PAR 1359.) Although the investigation was supposed to be a medical staff investigation, hospital administrators and the hospital's attorney, Harry Shulman, attended the investigating committee's meetings. (5 PAR 1013; 1082; 1109; 1114; 1153; 1168; 1177; 6 PAR 1207; 1317; 1337.) Dr. Scott Neeley, a Dignity vicepresident who was not a member of the medical staff, strongly advocated terminating Dr. Natarajan's privileges at those meetings. (6 PAR 1317-1325; 1337-1340; 15 PAR 3548-3549.) In violation of the hospital's bylaws, the hospital's Medical Executive Committee (MEC) never conducted its own investigation, despite Dr. Natarajan's request for an MEC investigation, before it issued a recommendation to terminate his privileges. (7 PAR 1608-1609; 6 PAR 1371-1379; 18 PAR 4320-4322.)

C. Dignity Refused to Appoint a Neutral Hearing Officer.

Dr. Natarajan requested a hearing on March 31, 2014. He asked for the hearing officer and physician hearing panel to be appointed by mutual agreement or to be neutrally selected. He described how Donald Wiley, the President of St. Joseph's, had attempted to weaken his group by trying to persuade local primary care physicians not to use it and by trying to hire away physicians from his group. He pointed out that the hospital had financial conflicts of interest that disqualified it from appointing the hearing officer. (1 PAR 216-219.)

He then described how hospitals usually appoint hearing officers who are hospital attorneys that have an economic incentive to please the hospitals in order to get future work. Dr. Natarajan offered to accept as a hearing officer any of 13 retired judges and a retired Court of Appeal justice. He further offered to consider any other retired judge or any other attorney qualified to serve as the hearing officer. He stated that if the parties were unable to agree on a hearing officer, he was willing to have the hearing officer selected by a superior court judge or other agreed-upon neutral party. *(Ibid.)*

Dignity ignored Dr. Natarajan's request for a neutral hearing officer and instead selected A. Robert Singer. (1 PAR 238-241.) At his voir dire, Singer testified that Todd Hecox, a Dignity attorney, initially called him about the appointment. (*Ibid*.) He further testified that after a gap in time, perhaps a week or two or possibly less, a hospital administrator or the Chief Medical Officer

-19-

(CMO) called him to confirm the appointment. (*Ibid.*) The hospital's CMO was Dr. Neeley, the hospital vice-president who had previously advocated Dr. Natarajan's termination. (15 PAR 3516.) Singer testified that following that conversation with the hospital administrator, Dignity sent him its proposed contract. (1 PAR 244-245.)

Discovery later ordered by the Superior Court shows that the fee agreement was sent by email on April 1, 2014, just one day after Dr. Natarajan's hearing request. (AAR 52.) The initial phone call therefore took place before Dr. Natarajan had even requested a hearing, if Singer was testifying truthfully. On April 2, 2014, the hospital sent Dr. Natarajan a letter stating that the hospital's president had selected Singer. (19 PAR 4655-4657.) Thus, it is undisputed that as a matter of fact, an agent of Dignity appointed Singer, contrary to Dignity's subsequent argument that it was actually the hospital's medical staff that appointed him. Donald Wiley, the hospital president that appointed Singer, was the same individual who had previously tried to weaken Dr. Natarajan's hospitalist group, as described above.

Harry Shulman, the attorney who represented both the hospital and the medical staff during the Natarajan hearing, had been Dignity's attorney for 30 years. (6 PAR 1346.) He had also been friends with Singer for at least 30 years. (1 PAR 269-271.) Singer has had several lunches with Shulman and has been to his house. (*Ibid.*) Since 2001, Singer has been the hearing officer for one of

-20-

Shulman's clients three to seven times in cases where Shulman was the attorney for the medical staff. (*Ibid.*) Singer stated at his voir dire that the physician did not win the hearing in any of those cases or in any other case in which Singer was the hearing officer. (1 PAR 272-273.)

D. Singer's Agreement to Serve as a Hearing Officer Was With Dignity, Not St. Joseph's, and Singer Had the Opportunity for Future Work at 33 Dignity Hospitals.

On April 1, 2014, Todd Hecox, a senior in-house counsel for Dignity, sent Singer a contract to serve as the hearing officer in Dr. Natarajan's case. (AR 53-55.)³ The contract Hecox sent to Singer did not contain any limitation on Singer's ability to serve again as a hearing officer at St. Joseph's or any other Dignity facility. (*Ibid.*) Dignity's 2009 contract with Singer for hearing officer work at another hospital also did not contain any such provision. (AAR 56-59.)

Singer requested that his contract for the Natarajan case be changed to add a three-year limitation on his service as a hearing officer at St. Joseph's only after it became apparent that the *Haas* doctrine might be an issue in this case. On April 17, 2014, at 11:40 a.m., before Singer's voir dire, Dr. Natarajan requested a copy

³ Singer testified at his voir dire that he had signed an agreement to serve as the hearing officer in Dr. Natarajan's case and that Todd Hecox had not signed the contract. (1 PAR 246, 250-251.) However, that testimony was untrue on both counts. Hecox had signed the contract (AAR 55) and the contract was never signed by Singer. (*Ibid.*, 7 CT 1840.)

⁽References to "CT" are to the Clerks' Transcript, as [Volume] CT [page].)

of Singer's contract as hearing officer. (19 PAR 4785-4786.) At 1:35 p.m. the same day, Dignity's attorney Shulman referenced *Haas* in an email asserting that Singer had no obligation to disclose the agreement. (*Ibid.*) Less than 90 minutes later, Singer sent an email to Hecox suggesting a three-year limitation on his ability to serve as a hearing officer at St. Joseph's. (AAR 60.) Singer later admitted that receiving the emails about his contract and *Haas* may have triggered his request for the three-year limitation. (AAR 34.)

Both Singer and Dignity claimed below that St. Joseph's was a separate entity from Dignity. (1 PAR 245-246; 1 CT 145-148, 151-154.) However, after Dr. Natarajan challenged that claim, Dignity admitted that St. Joseph's was not a separate legal entity but only a fictitious business name. (7 CT 1838.)

The engagement letter was on Dignity letterhead and signed by a Dignity lawyer. (AAR 53-55.) Singer sent his bills for hearing officer work to Dignity and Dignity paid him. (AAR 71-266; 1 PAR 244.)

Singer testified in his voir dire that he had no expectation of future employment from Dignity. (1 PAR 1 268-269.) He also testified that he considered the medical staff as the entity that was responsible for his appointment, even though Dignity was "the payor." (1 PAR 242-244.) Singer's fee agreement did not preclude him from working at any of Dignity's 34 hospitals other than arguably St. Joseph's. (1 PAR 251-252; 20 PAR 4846-4847.) At his voir dire, Singer testified that he had "no clue" how many hospitals Dignity owned. (1 PAR 267.) Singer admitted at his deposition that his statement had been untrue, and that he actually knew that Dignity owned at least 10 hospitals "and presumably more." (AAR 36-37.)

E. At His Voir Dire, Singer Concealed That He Had Been Paid Over \$210,000 By Dignity Since Leaving His Law Firm.

At his voir dire on April 24, 2014, Singer testified that Dignity had paid him for work as a hearing officer for seven different hospital hearings. (1 PAR 244; 1 PAR 262-266.) Discovery ordered by the Superior Court showed that Dignity or one of its affiliates had actually selected him to perform work on nine different hearings at that time. (AAR 318.) At the time of the voir dire, he was simultaneously engaged as a hearing officer for four different Dignity hospitals. (1 PAR 262-266.)

Singer refused to produce his fee agreement and written communications with Dignity despite Dr. Natarajan's pre-voir dire request for those documents. (1 PAR 231-237.) He refused to provide any information about his hourly rate for the Natarajan hearing (1 PAR 242); how much he had earned from past work for Dignity (1 PAR 264); why he had asked for his engagement letter to be changed to make himself ineligible to serve as a hearing officer for three years at St. Joseph's (1 PAR 248); the largest fee he had received as a hearing officer or his average fee for doing a hearing. (1 PAR 260.) At the conclusion of the voir dire, Singer denied Dr. Natarajan's request to make a written challenge to his service. (1 PAR

-23-

277-278.) After oral argument, he denied Dr. Natarajan's motion to disqualify him without stating his reasoning for that decision. (*Id.* at 290.)

Discovery ordered by the Superior Court showed that at the time of Singer's voir dire he had already earned over \$210,000 from Dignity or Dignity-affiliated entities for his work as an attorney or hearing officer after leaving his prior law firm. (AAR 314-318.) He received another \$168,835 for the four Dignity hearings that he was engaged in at the time of his voir dire. (*Ibid.*) He received \$41,683 for an eleventh Dignity hearing after Dr. Natarajan's hearing was concluded. (*Ibid.*) In total, he received approximately \$421,000 from Dignity after leaving his law firm in 2001. (The summary of billings on AAR 318 does not include the approximately \$60,000 earned by Singer as counsel to a Dignity Medical Staff from 2001-2006.) (AAR 38-47; AAR 314-318.)

F. Dignity Paid a Substantial Part of Singer's Income.

At Singer's deposition, he testified that 51 per cent of his income in both 2011 and 2014 came from Dignity. (AAR 48-50.) In other years between 2010 and 2014, it varied from 13 to 24 percent of his income. (*Ibid.*)

G. The Hearing Officer Influenced the Outcome of the Hearing.

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