Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically RECEIVED on 8/7/2020 on 4:09:36 PM Supreme Court of California Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court Electronically FILED on 8/10/2020 by Ines Calanoc, Deputy Clerk

FILED WITH PERMISSION

No. S259364

IN THE SUPREME COURT

OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

SUNDAR NATARAJAN, M.D.,

Petitioner and Appellant,

vs.

DIGNITY HEALTH,

Respondent.

After a Decision of the Court of Appeal Third Appellate District, No. C085906

San Joaquin County Superior Court No. STK-CV-UWM-2-16-4821

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

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

Third, the hospital board, not the hearing officer presiding over a peer review hearing, renders the final decision in a peer review proceeding. Because a hospital may be sued for "negligently failing to ensure the competency of its medical staff and the adequacy of medical care rendered to patients at its facility," and "[h]ospital assets are on the line," "[a] hospital's governing body must be permitted to align its authority with its responsibility and to render the final decision in the hospital administrative context." (Hongsathavij, 62 Cal.App.4th at 1143; El-Attar, 56 Cal.4th at 993].) Because hospitals make the final decision, they do not need to make purported promises to hearing officers of future employment to obtain favorable decisions, and hearing officers know this.

Fourth, Natarajan's argument is contrary to the evidence showing the St. Joseph's Medical Staff hired Singer, not the Dignity Health corporation. As the superior court found, in an unchallenged finding, Singer "is always hired by a hospital's

-74-

medical staff directly, regardless of the accounting practices of the hospital's parent company." (9-CT-2515:22-23.) The St. Joseph's Medical Staff Bylaws delegate to St. Joseph's' president the authority to appoint hearing officers. (PAR01616-1617 ¶ 9.4.E.) The superior court found that the initial contact was made by a Dignity Health attorney (9-CT-2516:2-4), but that was irrelevant to bias. (*Sadeghi v. Sharp Memorial Med. Ctr. Chula Vista* (2013) 221 Cal.App.4th 598, 616-617.) Natarajan insists St. Joseph's' president acted as "Dignity Health" in appointing Singer. But nothing about the delegation of the Medical Staff's appointment authority to a St. Joseph's administrator gives the Dignity Health corporation authority over hearing officer hiring decisions at St. Joseph's.

Natarajan offered no evidence that St. Joseph's' president had any larger role or influence over the corporation or any other Dignity Health hospital. And the independent, self-governing Medical Staff retained the power to appoint, and did appoint, the JRC panel—the actual adjudicators. (PAR01616 ¶ 9.4.D.)

Natarajan also relies on the fact that Dignity Health signed Singer's contract and issued his checks. For administrative efficiencies, Dignity Health provides some services at the corporate level. These structural business design choices do not convert St. Joseph's' selection of Singer into a decision of "Dignity Health" creating a financial conflict. (*Hongsathavij*, 62 Cal.App.4th at 1143 ["The rule of necessity precludes a claim of bias from the structure of the process."].) A hospital's payment of a hearing officer does not give rise to an inference of bias.

(Thornbrough, 223 Cal.App.4th at 189.)

Finally, Natarajan put on no evidence that the St. Joseph's Medical Staff, or Dignity Health hospitals' medical staffs in general, would hire—let alone *likely* would hire—Singer for future hearing officer work if the outcome of Natarajan's hearing favored the hospital. The only evidence on the subject of future employment was Singer's restrictive agreement and his testimony that he was precluded from working at St. Joseph's for three years. (PAR00248.) A hearing officer's testimony that he "knew 'of no potential or actual conflicts of interest that require disclosure in this matter" "functions as a denial of future employment prospects with the District, the problem described in Haas." (Thornbrough, 223 Cal.App.4th at 188.) Singer's contract does not mention future employment. (Id. at 189-190 ["Nothing in the purported [hearing officer] contract on its face suggests that the District was holding out the promise of *future employment*, which is the problem identified by *Haas*."] [emphasis in original].) As the HCB put it, "it is clear in this record that Mr. Singer was not implicitly or explicitly offered the possibility of future employment in exchange for favorable rulings and his arrangement with St. Joseph's Medical Center was not 'open-ended[]'; the facts are guite the reverse." (PAR00206.)

6. The assumption that a medical staff or hospital will be more inclined to hire hearing officers who favor the medical staff is unsupported.

Another flawed premise of Natarajan's financial bias theory

is that a hearing officer will consistently try to steer the JRC to rule for the medical staff to curry favor and be hired again. This makes no sense. Hospitals and medical staffs have an overriding interest in a fair and unbiased peer review process, to, for example, avoid disputes alleging unfair treatment of medical staff members and attract qualified physicians to the medical staff. Further, if a hearing officer's rulings are not supported by the record and have a prejudicial impact on the outcome of the case, the decision will likely be reversed, either by the hospital board or by a court in a Code of Civil Procedure section 1094.5 mandamus proceeding. That could lead to expensive and timeconsuming do-overs of the administrative proceedings, or result in orders requiring hospitals to reinstate doctors who have been determined to endanger patient safety. A hearing officer who made unfounded rulings favoring a hospital would do the hospital a great disservice, decreasing rather than enhancing the chances of future engagement.

Natarajan complains that the outcomes of peer review proceedings are rarely reversed because the substantial evidence review standard of section 1094.5 is so deferential as to be toothless. He says the prospect of reversal has not deterred medical staffs from retaining hearing officers to serve in multiple cases. (OBOM 82, 84.)

However, section 1094.5's deferential standard for review of the merits of a hospital board decision is the standard the Legislature chose to impose, and also applies to decisions in numerous administrative proceedings, governmental and private.

-77-

If a physician believes the hearing officer was biased, he is free to challenge the fairness of the proceeding, which is reviewed de novo. But he still needs admissible evidence establishing direct financial benefit meeting the statutory standard to obtain a reversal. Natarajan did not have such evidence and he never assigned error on appeal to the superior court's specific findings against him on this very evidence in the statement of decision. (*Rosenblit*, 231 Cal.App.3d at 1443.)

7. St. Joseph's' purported economic motive to terminate Natarajan does not change the result.

A theme meandering throughout Natarajan's brief is that the hospital terminated his privileges for economic reasons, as Natarajan's hospitalist group competed with the hospital's own hospitalist practice. Thus, he asserts Singer's exclusion of Natarajan's proffered evidence of an economic motivation for the termination prejudiced his case.

Natarajan failed to challenge the JRC's specific rejection of his claim of economic motive: "The [hearing committee] finds no persuasive evidence in support of Dr. Natarajan's suggestion that Medical Staff leaders were pressured to initiate the investigation or reach adverse conclusions in the investigative process for reasons other than concern for efficient and high quality patient care at the Medical Center." (PAR09430-9431, fn. 8.) These unchallenged findings are binding. (*Johnson*, 24 Cal.4th at 69-70.)

As for Singer's ruling, Natarajan complains Singer limited evidence regarding St. Joseph's' purported "economic incentive"

-78-

to terminate Natarajan. (OBOM 17-18.) But Singer's ruling explained: "It is now abundantly clear that aside from speculation, Dr. Natarajan doesn't have evidence—much less specific, tangible, or reliable evidence—of any misconduct based upon economic motives on the part of anyone with respect to the investigation and decision-making leading up to the recommendation to terminate his medical staff membership, and certainly not on the part of the MEC." (PAR05695; PAR05355-5363.)

Further, this Court has acknowledged the potential for the same economic motive Natarajan alleged here. (*El-Attar*, 56 Cal.4th at 995 ["A hospital's governing body could undoubtedly seek to select hearing officers and panel members biased against the physician. It might even do so because it wishes 'to remove a physician from a hospital staff for reasons having no bearing on quality of care"] [quoting *Mileikowsky*, 45 Cal.4th at 1292].) Nonetheless, the Court would not presume that this motive would cause prohibited appearance of bias in any hearing officer the hospital selected, without facts showing the hearing officer was biased. (*El-Attar*, 56 Cal.4th at 995; § 809(a)(6) [the purpose of peer review is to "exclude ... those healing arts practitioners who provide substandard care or who engage in professional misconduct, *regardless of the effect of that exclusion on competition*"] [emphasis added].)

8. Singer's purported friendship with counsel for the MEC is irrelevant.

Natarajan asserts Singer was biased in favor of the hospital because of his alleged "30 year friendship" with Harry Shulman, an attorney for St. Joseph's' MEC. This argument goes well beyond the scope of the financial bias inquiry under subdivision (b) and does not show bias under subdivision (c). Natarajan asserts that under California law, appearance of bias is sufficient to disqualify an adjudicator when "other personal or professional relationships might affect his or her neutrality." (OBOM 28-29.) This is incorrect. A personal relationship must meet an actual bias standard to support disqualification. (*Andrews*, 28 Cal.3d at 793; *Tumey*, 273 U.S. at 523 ["matters of kinship [and] personal bias ... would seem generally to be matters merely of legislative discretion"].) Natarajan never put on evidence that this purported friendship caused Singer to be actually biased against Natarajan.

Further, Natarajan exaggerates the "friendship." Singer explained he is acquainted with Shulman because they both practice in the world of physician peer review. Singer detailed their few social interactions over the years. (*Supra* Part II.C.) There was no conflict.

D. The proper remedy for unfairness would be a writ vacating the decision and ordering a new "fair" hearing.

Natarajan argues that if this Court reverses the decision, he can proceed directly with a damages action, rather than submit to another, "fairer" hearing. This ignores that if the HCB decision is vacated, there is no final administrative decision to sue upon and the last administrative findings would be those of the JRC, which are binding and adverse to Natarajan. (*Johnson*, 24 Cal.4th at 69-70 [administrative findings are binding in civil actions if not first overturned by mandamus].) Even if Natarajan had shown prejudicial error (*infra* Part IV.E), a new hearing would be required. (*Pinsker II*, 12 Cal.3d at 557, fn. 17 ["In all prior cases in which a hearing has been improperly denied, the courts have simply ordered that a hearing be afforded."] [citations omitted].)

Natarajan cites Westlake Community Hospital v. Superior Court (1976) 17 Cal.3d 465, arguing that if his termination is reversed for procedural unfairness, he need not undergo another hearing and may sue directly for "tort remedies," including damages. (OBOM 86.) But any damages would have been caused not by the decision to exclude him (which was and is supported by unchallenged substantial evidence), but rather by the procedural violation itself. "There are substantial inherent difficulties in proving a party's damages resulted from the denial of a hearing, particularly where, as here, the government agency and the administrative hearing officer had substantial discretion in ruling on the merits of the issue." (Carlsbad Aquafarm v. State Dep't of Health Services (2000) 83 Cal.App.4th 809, 822-823.)

Carlsbad Aquafarm illustrates how compensatory damages may cross the line from the proven offense—denial of a hearing to a different, unproven offense—the underlying termination decision. The complainant alleged it suffered damages because it was removed from a vendor list without a hearing. The Court of Appeal reversed a jury award of damages because it was based on the unsupported presumption that but for the procedural violation, the complainant would not have been removed from the list: "Although the jury was instructed it must find the due process violation 'caused' Aquafarm's claimed lost profit damages, there was little or no evidence linking the *absence of a hearing* to the ultimate damages. Instead, Aquafarm focused primarily on arguing that it suffered damages because it was removed from the Interstate List." (*Ibid.* [emphasis in original].) This required reversal of the damages award. (*Id.* at 823; *MHC Financing Ltd. Pshp. Two v. City of Santee* (2010) 182 Cal.App.4th 1169, 1188 ["to determine the damages resulting from the violation of a right to petition, a court will be required to determine whether the party who was denied the right to petition *would have been successful* had it exercised the right"] [emphasis in original].)

This distinction matters. There is no reason to presume that if Singer were impermissibly biased, the underlying decision necessarily was wrong. "Where the deprivation of a protected interest is substantively justified but procedures are deficient in some respect, there may well be those who suffer no distress over the procedural irregularities." (*Carey v. Piphus* (1978) 435 U.S. 247, 263.) "[W]here a deprivation is justified but procedures are deficient, whatever distress a person feels may be attributable to the justified deprivation rather than to deficiencies in procedure." (*Ibid.*) A plaintiff is not entitled to damages for justified deprivation if he proves only procedural deficiencies.

Permitting Natarajan to sue for damages for purportedly wrongful exclusion, where the substantive findings have never been set aside, cannot be reconciled with this principle.

-82-

E. Any defects in the hearing process were harmless.

The JRC determined Natarajan endangered patient safety and should be terminated. The HCB and superior court found this conclusion supported by substantial evidence. Natarajan did not challenge any of these findings and has waived such a challenge. (*Natarajan*, 42 Cal.App.5th at 385; *City of Merced*, 126 Cal.App.4th at 1322-1323.) The evidence of substandard care is what it is no matter who presided over the hearing. The unchallenged, copious substantial evidence against Natarajan does not become tainted or untrustworthy just because Natarajan might support a claim of bias by the non-adjudicating hearing officer. Thus, had any procedural irregularity occurred, it was harmless and would not justify reversal.

This Court has explained "[n]ot every violation of a hospital's internal procedures provides grounds for judicial intervention.... [W]e have long recognized that departures from an organization's procedural rules will be disregarded unless they have produced some injustice." As such, "a deviation from the mandated procedures is not 'prejudicial,' and thus does not warrant relief, unless the deviation is material." (*El-Attar*, 56 Cal.4th at 990-991; Cal. Const., art. VI, § 13; Code Civ. Proc., § 475.) "[N]othing in [section 809 et seq.'s] text or adoption history suggests that the Legislature sought to displace the requirement of prejudice and instead compel judicial reversal of *every* decision involving a failure to adhere to hospital bylaws." (*El-Attar*, 56 Cal.4th at 991 [emphasis in original].) Where, as here, substantial evidence supports the findings (and the physician does not claim otherwise), and there is no evidence that actual hearing officer bias impacted the proceedings adversely to the physician, any error is immaterial. "Simply because the governing body of a hospital may be in a position to deprive a physician of a fair hearing does not mean that it is likely to do so." (*Id.* at 996.)⁵¹

Natarajan claims Singer excluded Natarajan's evidence. The possibility of additional evidence supporting Natarajan's view does not negate that the record contained substantial evidence supporting the MEC. "If substantial evidence exists, it is of no consequence that the trial court believing other evidence or drawing other reasonable inferences might have reached a contrary conclusion." (*Picerne Constr. Corp. v. Castellino Villas* (2016) 244 Cal.App.4th 1201, 1208-1209.)

El-Attar's application of the harmless error rule to physician peer review proceedings makes particular sense. It would be absurd to require hospitals—with already strained funding—to re-spend hundreds of thousands of dollars to "do over" a hearing with a correct result. The "prejudicial error" standard applied in *El-Attar* means that even if the evidence establishes (as here) the physician threatens patient safety, the physician cannot continue to practice at the hospital while the hearing is redone, which obviously would undermine peer review's purpose of protecting patients.

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